1962

# La Mar Peay v. Board of Education of Provo City School District et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action to decide the constitutionality and validity of *Section 11, Chapter 104, Laws of Utah, 1961*, cited UCA 1953, 53-7-24, and the validity of the election held in Provo City February 6, 1962, pursuant to this act.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This case is an appeal by the plaintiff, LaMar Peay, from a summary judgment rendered June 29, 1962, to the effect that plaintiff's complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Utah Legislature in 1961 passed Section 11, Chapter 104, Laws of Utah, 1961, which is also cited as UCA, 53-7-24, and is here stated in its entirety:

“53-7-24. VOTED LEEWAY PROGRAM AUTHORIZED—ELECTION REQUIREMENTS.—With the consent of a majority of the electors of the district voting at an election or elections held for that purpose in the manner set forth in Section 53-2-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953, any district may maintain a school program in excess of the cost of the program referred to in sections 53-7-22 and 53-7-23 above. Said additional program shall be known as the “voted leeway” program of the district. Said voted leeway program shall not exceed an amount equal to 20% of the basic program of the district. “Consideration of such additional program and of modification, increases or decreases thereof by such elections may be initiated by a petition signed by electors of the district equal to 10% of the number of electors who voted at a preceding election on said question or by action of the board of education. A subsequent election upon the question of modifying or increasing such an additional program shall not be deemed to constitute a reconsideration of the existing additional voted leeway program unless the proposition submitted to the electors expressly so states. Accordingly, a majority vote opposing said modification or increase shall not be deemed to deprive the district of authority to continue said existing voted leeway program. Nothing contained in this section shall be construed as terminating without an election, thereon, the authority of any school district to continue an existing voted additional program heretofore authorized by the voters.”

After the passage of this law and pursuant to its authorization the Provo City Board of Education caused an election to be held in Provo City, Utah, on the following proposition (R-23) :

“Shall the Board of Education of Provo City, State of Utah, be authorized to maintain a ‘voted leeway’ program as provided in Section 11, Chapter 104, Laws of Utah, 1961, not to exceed ten per cent (10%) of the minimum basic program provided by law.”

In this election all persons entitled to vote for general offices of the state without regard to any property qualification were allowed to vote. The result of the election was :

*For* said proposition: 2,224

*Against* said proposition: 1,829

After this election appellant brought an action to determine the constitutionality and validity of the act, the validity of the election and to enjoin the respondents from any action pursuant to the election. Respondents filed an answer and thereafter made a Motion for Summary Judgment. This Motion was granted by the lower court and judgment entered dismissing appellant’s complaint for failing to state a claim. (R-29)

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant contends that plaintiff’s complaint did state a cause of action and asks that the decision of the trial judge be reversed, and that UCA 1953, 53-7-24 be

declared unconstitutional and a nullity and that the election of February 6, 1962, be declared null and void.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE STATUTE RELIED ON BY DEFENDANTS IN CALLING THE "LEEWAY" ELECTION IS SO VAGUE, INDEFINITE, AND UNCERTAIN THAT IT SHOULD BE DECLARED A NULLITY.

The "Leeway" election causing the dispute before the Court is based on Chapter 104, Section 11, Laws of Utah, 1961 (53-7-24, UCA 1953). The pertinent part of this statute reads:

"With the consent of a majority of the electors of the district voting at an election or elections held for that purpose in the manner set forth in Section 53-2-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953, any district may maintain a school program in excess of the cost of the program referred to in Sections 53-7-22 and 53-7-23 above . . ."

A problem immediately arises, because the section referred to as 53-2-12, UCA, 1953 concerns the general powers and duties of the State Board of Education, and says nothing about elections. Thus the statute, as considered (the bill as introduced contained the same reference) and enacted by the legislature, sets forth no provisions for holding a "leeway" election. The act should therefore fail on this ground. It might be said that the legislature has made an obvious mistake in referring to UCA 1953,



53-2-12, and that it must have intended reference to another section. Respondents contend that the Court should read a statute that was repealed before Section 53-7-24 was enacted and from this reading determine that the legislature intended to include a different reference in th body of Section 53-7-24. They argue that Section 53-7-24 is a replacement for Section 53-7-8, and that since 53-7-8 made reference to 53-7-12 the Court must conclude that the legislature intended to refer to 53-7-12 when it enacted 53-7-24. (Section 53-7-12 has to do with special elections called for the purpose of creating a special tax to buy and erect schoolhouses.) In support of their position, respondents cite cases where the Courts have corrected obvious legislative errors. However, it is important to note here that in this case the legislature at no time considered any reference to any section other than 53-2-12, since the bill was introduced with the same statutory reference it had when it was passed. Respondents are therefore hard pressed to argue which section the legislature intended to refer to, since reference to no other section appears in the legislative record.

Appellant calls attention to the fact that Section 53-7-24 as passed departed in several respects from the repealed Section 53-7-8, and that is impossible to determine what the legislature had on its mind in referring to 53-2-12. To cite the changes between 53-7-24 and 53-7-8: Section 53-7-24 substituted 20 per cent for 25 per cent; it also left out the reference to the basic unit of \$4,050.00 plus transportation; it also left out the first paragraph of the repealed Section 53-7-8 consisting of twenty-three

lines. Appellant submits that it is just as reasonable for the Court to speculate that the legislature intended to refer directly to the provisions governing bond elections as to speculate that it was intended to refer to a section which in turn refers to another section in order to give it meaning. In fact, this would appear to be the more reasonable interpretation, because Section 53-7-12 must itself refer to the bond elections in determining the procedure of the elections. The problem clause in Section 53-7-24 says:

“With the consent of a majority of the electors of the district voting at an election or elections held for that purpose in the *manner* set forth in Section 53-2-12.” (Emphasis added)

The word “manner” obviously means procedure in the foregoing, so if we adopt the respondents’ argument we must say that Section 53-7-24 refers election procedures to 53-7-12 which then refers election procedures to the section on issuance of bonds. A rather circuitous route for something that could have been easily spelled out by the legislature. The appellant agrees that the Court should help interpret legislation so as to preserve it, but lacking prophetic vision or psychoanalytic insight the court cannot decide what the legislature would like to do had it the power to start all over again — the court should refuse to legislate, and let the legislature clearly state its decision with corrective legislation.

The cases where the Court has corrected legislative errors are cases of obvious errors, where it was clear what the legislature had intended to include in various

enactments and through error had not reflected the true intent that was patently obvious. In this case it is not patently obvious. Furthermore, those cases correcting obvious legislative error constitute an exception of the general rule, which is stated in 50 *Am. Jur.* Section 232 at page 219:

“Courts will not, as a general rule, undertake a correction of legislative mistakes in statutes. This principle is adhered to notwithstanding the fact that the Court may be convinced by extraneous circumstances that the legislature intended to enact something very different from that which it did enact. The question is not what the general assembly intended to enact, but what is the meaning of that which it did enact.”

If, however, we assume the respondents' position for purposes of argument, i. e. that the Court should supply the statutory reference in Section 53-7-24 of Section 53-7-12, we are faced with another problem of determining what is meant by the vague and uncertain term “so far as applicable:” that is contained in Section 53-7-12. The pertinent part of Section 53-7-12 reads as follows:

“... The board of education shall give such reasonable notice of such submission as it may deem proper, and shall follow the procedure in elections for the issuance of bonds *so far as applicable.*” (Emphasis added)

Respondents maintain that if the Court inserts Section 53-7-12 in Section 53-7-24 then the procedures for the election are completely spelled out. Defendants plead in Section 7 (e) of their answer that they complied with all pro-

visions of law in calling for, conducting, and canvassing the result of the election. They also specifically refer to their compliance so far as applicable with Sections 53-10-3 to 6. Counsel probably intended to refer to Sections 53-10-7 through 53-10-12 since these are the sections which refer to bond elections, while the sections cited by the defendants refer to the creation of indebtedness otherwise than through bonding. However, the two sections (53-10-5 and 53-10-11) on qualification of voters read essentially the same. Section 53-10-11 reads as follows:

“Every registered voter residing in any municipal ward or school representative precinct in which any election is held for the purpose of determining the question of issuing bonds for a school district who shall have paid a property tax therein in the year next preceding such election shall be entitled to vote at any such election. Challenges for cause by any qualified voter shall be allowed at such election and promptly decided by the judges conducting the same.”

To adopt defendants' theory, the Court would have to read out the qualification of voters part of the section, which requires the payment of a property tax, and conclude that the only portion of the section which “is applicable” is the last sentence on challenges. This would seem to be a strained interpretation indeed, the effect of which would be to allow non-property-taxpaying voters such as college students and others to impose an additional tax on the property owners of a school district, a violation of our concept of fundamental rights and due process of law.

It is interesting and significant to note that in the chapter on creating indebtedness by school districts (the

chapter to which 53-7-12 refers) there are no less than five references made to the requirement of property tax payments in order for voters to invoke additional tax burdens on property owners. See the following sections with their pertinent parts:

53-10-1—

“... but no debt in excess of the school taxes for the current year shall be created by the board of education of any school district unless the proposition to create such debt shall have been submitted to a vote of *such qualified electors as shall have paid a property tax therein within the twelve calendar months next preceding such election.* . . .”

53-10-2—

“... such district may cause the proposition to incur and create such additional indebtedness to be submitted to a vote of *such qualified electors as shall have paid a property tax in any such school district in the year preceding such election.*”

53-10-5—

“Every registered voter . . . *who shall have paid a property tax in such district in the year next preceding such election shall be entitled to vote at any such election.* . . .”

53-10-11—

Every registered voter . . . *who shall have paid a property tax in such district in the year next preceding such election shall be entitled to vote at any such election.* . . .”

53-10-16—(which constitutes the form of the certificate that the County Clerk must sign in connection with a bond issue) :

“I certify that the within bond is issued in accordance with law, and is within the debt limit permitted by the constitution and laws of the State of Utah, *and in accordance with a vote of the taxpayers of . . .*”  
(Emphasis added)

To read out the property tax requirement of the bonding statutes would be to ignore the provision which seemed to be most important in the eyes of the legislature. It would also violate a fundamental rule of law governing taxation legislation. We quote from *Sutherland on Statutory Construction*, Volume 3, Chapter 67, Section 67-1, at page 993:

“While the power to tax, and the exercise of that power is indispensable to the effective operation of the government, the rule has become firmly established *that tax laws are to be strictly construed against the state and in favor of the taxpayer.* Therefore, where there is reasonable doubt as to the meaning of a revenue statute it should be resolved in favor of those taxed.

“... A number of theories have been put forth in sustaining the soundness of the doctrine ... that a rigid application of revenue measures is for the protection of the citizen who should be informed in unambiguous terms the amount and nature of the tax.” (Emphasis added)

Also, see *Crawford on Statutory Construction*, Section 257, page 502:

“As a general rule, and in accord with the prevailing view revenue laws, and particularly tax

laws, should be construed in favor of the taxpayer and against the government. *In fact, they are to be construed liberally in favor of the taxpayer, and any substantial doubt resolved in favor of the citizen.* Hence any tax proceedings must be in strict accord with the provisions of the statutes relating thereto.

“This view rests, so it would seem, upon the principle *that a tax cannot be imposed without the use of clear and express language. To hold otherwise would allow the courts to impose taxation, and that would clearly constitute an encroachment upon the power of the legislature.* More than that, taxation is a process which interferes with the personal and property rights of the people, although it is a necessary interference. But because it does take from the people a portion of their property, seems to be a valid reason for construing tax laws in favor of the taxpayer. It is also a destructive power. *So far as property rights are concerned it occupies an analogous position to that occupied by statutes which restrict and destroy personal rights. Accordingly, in case of doubt or of ambiguity, that construction should be adopted which opposes the imposition of the tax.*” (Emphasis added)

It is submitted that even if the Court would supply the reference to 53-7-12 in Section 53-7-24, there still remains the problem of determining the meaning of “so far as applicable.” The respondents have chosen to determine that the requirement for a property tax payment is not applicable to the leeway election. In view of the sections cited above this would seem to be entirely contrary to what the legislature would have intended. It would also seem to directly contradict the principles of



law governing revenue and taxation statutes as cited above.

## POINT II.

THE TITLE OF CHAPTER 104, LAWS OF UTAH, 1961, (MINIMUM SCHOOL PROGRAM) DOES NOT MEET THE CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENTS, AND THE ACT IS THEREFORE VOID.

The title to Chapter 104, Laws of Utah, 1961, reads as follows:

### “MINIMUM SCHOOL PROGRAM”

“An Act Establishing the State-Supported Minimum School Program, Stating the Costs Thereof, Prescribing the Amount of the Contributions to Be Made by the State and the Various School Districts Toward the Payment of the Costs Thereof and the Manner in Which the Various School Districts May Qualify for Participation Therein; Enabling School Districts to Provide Additional School Services and Programs; Prescribing the Manner in Which Tax Levies by the State Shall Be Made for the Purposes of Making Said Contributions; Enabling the School Districts to Make Tax Levies; Providing for the Collection of Said Tax Levies by the Respective Counties; Providing for the Distribution of Federal Funds, and Repealing Sections 53-7-2, 53-7-5, 53-7-5a, 53-7-5b, 53-7-5c, 53-7-6, 53-7-7, and 53-7-8, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.”

Article VI, Section 23 of the *Constitution of the State of Utah* reads as follows:

“Except general appropriation bills, and bills for the codification and general revision of laws, no



bill shall be passed containing more than one subject, *which shall be clearly expressed in its title.*”  
(Emphasis added)

A careful examination of the title reveals an obvious omission of any mention of Section Eleven of the Act, which purports to set up the “voted leeway program.” It cannot be said that the leeway program is just a part of the Minimum School Program, and that therefore it is included in the title. The leeway program is a distinct method of financing to allow individual school districts to vote on how much they wish to contribute for the support of the basic school program provided by the state. It is separate and distinct, and should be treated as such by the legislature. This is precisely the type of thing that Article VI, Section 23 of the Utah Constitution was directed toward.

While very little is required in a title to satisfy this Constitutional safeguard, we cannot find the “very little” in the present case. The law is clearly summarized in *Crawford, Statutory Construction*, Section 99, at page 141 :

“As has been previously indicated, the subject or object or an act must be expressed in its title, and by virtue of several constitutional provisions *it must be expressed clearly . . .* After all the title is in the nature of a label, or mark of identification, and is intended to give notice of the subject or object of the act.” (Emphasis added)

And in Section 96 of the same work, the author sets forth the effect of non-compliance :

“Inasmuch as the constitutional provisions with reference to the title and subject matter of an act

are mandatory, a failure to meet the constitutional requirements will invalidate the enactment in whole or in part. The precise extent of the illegality will depend on the degree of the departure from the constitutional requirement that an act shall contain but 'one subject which shall be expressed in the title.' However, if two or more distinct subjects are expressed in the title, the whole act will be invalid. *Similarly, if the statute is broader than its title, the part w/o the scope of the title will be invalid, or if the part w/o the scope of the title is so intimately connected with the part expressed in the title that the former without the latter does not leave a statute complete in itself and capable of execution, the entire act will be invalid. It may, therefore, be stated, as a general rule, since the title defines the scope of the law, that an act can be valid only as to the part expressed in the title.*" (Emphasis added)

Since Section 11 of Chapter 104, Laws of Utah, 1961, is not referred to in the title, the section should be declared void and ineffective.

### POINT III.

THE NOTICE CALLING THE ELECTION AS PUBLISHED BY THE RESPONDENTS WAS INSUFFICIENT TO APPRAISE THE VOTING PUBLIC AS TO THE ISSUES OF THE ELECTION, AND THE ELECTION WAS THEREFORE INVALID.

A general statement of the requirements for a valid notice is found at 79 C.J.S. Section 366, page 93, which reads as follows:

"... Generally, the contents of a notice must be such as clearly to inform the electors as to the

question submitted, and as to the purpose of the proposed issue of bonds . . . the bonds to be issued need not be discredited nor the purpose of the issue set forth with too great particularity, if the voter is made reasonably aware of the purpose and cost of the proposed improvement so that he may exercise an intelligent and discriminating judgment as to his own interest and public welfare." (Emphasis added)

See also the following cases which amplify the rule stated :

*Heller v. Rounkles*, 171 Kan. 323, 232 P. 2d 225

*Henson v. School District No. 92*, 150 Kan. 610, 95 P. 2d 346

*King v. Independent School Dist. Class A, No. 37*, 46 Idaho 800, 272 P. 507.

Respondents plead in their Answer (Paragraph 7e) that they have complied with the provisions of Section 53-10-3 concerning notice of the election so far as applicable. The requirements of the notice as set forth in Section 53-10-3 are as follows :

- “(1) The time and place of holding such election.
- (2) The name of the judges at each polling place to conduct such election.
- (3) The hours during which the polls shall remain open.
- (4) *The amount of indebtedness which the board proposes to incur or create and for what purpose.*” (Emphasis added)

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