1962

La Mar Peay v. Board of Education of Provo City School Dist. : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT CAN CORRECT THE PATENT TYPOGRAPHICAL ERROR IN SECTION 11, CHAPTER 104, LAWS OF UTAH 1961 THUS REMOVING ANY POSSIBLE QUESTION OF ITS BEING VAGUE, INDEFINITE OR UNCERTAIN.

Chapter 104, Laws of Utah 1961, establishes the method of financing operations of public elementary and secondary schools in this State. After making provision for a uniform basic minimum school program, and providing for certain other permissive sources of additional operating revenue to local boards, the Act, in section 11, here questioned, purports to give local boards of education, upon grant of authority by the electorate, power to raise yet additional revenue locally by means of additional ad valorem levy. This is referred to as the "voted leeway" program. It is this provision, invoked by respondents, which appellant here questions.

The first paragraph of section 11 states:

"With the consent of a majority of the electors of the district voting at an election or elections held for that purpose in the manner set forth in Section 53-2-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, any district may maintain a school program in excess of the cost of the program referred to in Sections 9 and 10 above. Said

additional program shall be known as the 'voted leeway' program of the district. Said voted leeway program shall not exceed an amount equal to 20% of the basic program of the district."

Our position is that the reference to Section 53-2-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953, for the manner of calling the election is a patent typographical error, which the court can correct, substituting therefor Section 53-7-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953.

The statute erroneously cited treats of the general powers and duties of the State Board of Education, having nothing to do with the financing of local school districts or elections. On the other hand, section 53-7-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953, treats specifically the calling of special elections by local boards of education.

Chapter 104, Laws of Utah 1961, repealed the former statutory provisions for financing public school operations, a system which also embraced the "voted leeway" theory. Among the provisions thus repealed was section 53-7-8, Utah Code Annotated 1953, which provided in part:

" With the consent of a majority of the electors of the district voting at an election or elections held for that purpose in the manner set forth in Section 53-7-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953, any district may maintain a school program in excess of the above mentioned cost in an amount not exceeding an additional 25% of the cost of the basic program"

The statute here attacked replaces this section. It makes sense, fits the over-all financing plan, and has been followed by several local districts. To refuse to read Chapter 7 in lieu of Chapter 2 in the questioned statute is to

end with a non sequitur; to read it as Chapter 7 makes the act harmonious and avoids nonsense. The legislative intent is clear. The trial court merely corrected an obvious typographical error. The rule of construction we invoke is found in 2 Sutherland, Statutory Construction (3d Ed.) pages 460-462, Sec. 4925:

"Courts have permitted the substitution of one word for another: where it is necessary to make the act harmonious or to avoid repugnancy or inconsistency, . . . where it is obvious that the word used in the act is the result of clerical error, or mistake, where the substitution will make the act sensible

"Courts have denied the power: where the word to be substituted affects the essence of the act and there is an ambiguity as to what was intended, where it would involve the exercise of a legislative function, where the act is ambiguous, where two legislative purposes are suggested and both render the act 'effective.'"

This court has followed that rule. In the case of *People vs. Hill*, 3 Utah 334(353), 3 Pac. 75, the court read a criminal statute containing a reference to a section 152 as though it were 151 in order to carry out the manifest intention of the legislature. See also *Morrison-Merrill & Co. vs. Industrial Commission*, 81 Utah 363, 18 P. 2d 295; *Chez ex rel Weber College vs. Building Commission*, 93 Utah 538, 74 P. 2d 687; *Norville vs. Tax Commission*, 98 Utah 170, 97 P. 2d 937; 126 ALR 1318.

Appellant appears to take the position that the statute in question, though read as urged by the respondents and as corrected by the trial court (R. 28), still contains an ambiguity in that the statutes referred to for the manner

of calling and conducting the election refer to taxpayers ad qualified electors who shall have paid a property tax.

We again state that though the appellant urged before the trial court that the act was unconstitutional because it provided for the voting of qualified electors in the school district without regard to property qualifications, he has abandoned this argument on appeal. He cites the references to property qualifications only on the issue of vagueness, indefiniteness and uncertainty.

It is remembered that we deal here solely with the manner of calling the election. Section 53-7-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953, provides:

“ . . . the Board of Education shall give such reasonable notice of such submission as it may deem proper and shall follow the rocedure in elections for the issuance of bonds so far as applicable.....” (Emphasis added)

The procedure for the calling and conducting of bond elections is set forth in Sections 53-10-3 to 6 inclusive, Utah Code Annotated 1953.

Appellant does not assert that respondents failed to follow the mechanical procedure set out in those sections, he merely asserts that an ambiguity exists because a property qualification is interposed on bond elections but is not interposed in “voted leeway” elections.

Under the provisions of Chapter 104, Laws of Utah 1961 we assert that we see no ambiguity; no debt is created by reason of the voted leeway election. All that was sought and all that was given by the electorate was permission or authority to operate the school system at a higher budgetary level, from local sources of revenue, than the board could otherwise provide.

POINT II

THE TITLE TO CHAPTER 104, LAWS OF UTAH 1961, MEETS THE STANDARD REQUIRED BY ARTICLE VI, SECTION 23, UTAH CONSTITUTION.

The pertinent Constitutional provision referred to states:

" . . . No bill shall be passed (by the Legislature) containing more than one subject, which shall be clearly expressed in its title."

Violation of this provision by Chapter 104, Laws of Utah 1961 is not asserted in the pleadings. However, as stated earlier, we will not belabor this question. The trial court considered it, stating "that the law is not invalid on the above grounds.' (R. 28)

This court has had several occasions to examine legislative acts in the light of that constitutional limitation. In the case of **Kent Club vs. Toronto**, 6 Utah 2d 67, 305 P. 2d 870, the court upheld a statute amendatory of the corporation code which dealt with the regulation, control and revocation of charters of non-profit social clubs, although the Act, in effect, also amended the Liquor Control Act. We quote from the opinion the court's statement defining the extent of the constitutional interdiction:

"(1) The title and the act should be surveyed in the light of the purpose of the above quoted section of the Constitution, which is to guard against the surreptitious or inadvertent inclusion of subjects in legislation without legislators and the public being aware of its contents;

“(2) Due consideration should be given to the fact that legislation is often necessarily comprehensive in covering a whole subject and that it is not invalid simply because certain portions, if considered in isolation, would seem unrelated, but is proper so long as all the provisions have a direct relationship to the subject legislated upon;

“(3) A liberal view should be taken of both the act and the constitutional provisions so as not to hamper the law-making power, but to permit the adoption of comprehensive measures covering a whole subject;

“(4) That each Act must be viewed in its entirety and upon the basis of the circumstances and conditions peculiar to it, and must be regarded as constitutional unless it plainly appears that the basic purpose of the constitutional provision is violated.”

See also **State vs. Twitchell**, 8 Utah 2d 314, 333 P. 2d 1075, and **State vs. Barlow**, 107 Utah 292, 153 P. 2d 647.

We quote the title to Chapter 104, Laws of Utah, 1961: “AN ACT ESTABLISHING THE STATE-SUPPORTED MINIMUM SCHOOL PROGRAM, STATING THE COSTS THEREOF, PRESCRIBING THE AMOUNT OF THE CONTRIBUTIONS TO BE MADE BY THE STATE AND THE VARIOUS SCHOOL DISTRICTS TOWARD THE PAYMENT OF THE COSTS THEREOF AND THE MANNER IN WHICH THE VARIOUS SCHOOL DISTRICTS MAY QUALIFY FOR PARTICIPATION THEREIN; ENABLING SCHOOL DISTRICTS TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL SCHOOL SERVICES AND PROGRAMS; PRESCRIBING THE MANNER IN WHICH TAX LEVIES BY THE STATE SHALL BE MADE FOR PURPOSES OF MAKING SAID CONTRIBUTIONS; ENABLING THE SCHOOL

DISTRICTS TO MAKE TAX LEVIES; PROVIDING FOR THE COLLECTION OF SAID TAX LEVIES BY THE RESPECTIVE COUNTIES; PROVIDING FOR THE DISTRIBUTION OF FEDERAL FUNDS AND REPEALING SECTIONS (named sections) . . .”

It is observed from the title and from the Act itself that the Act deals comprehensively with the subject of school district operating revenue. It deals with nothing more than that. Most assuredly no one can with reason assert that the Act, in view of the title, contains the evil calculated to be avoided by means of the constitutional provision here invoked—the misleading of the public and legislature by inserting intentionally or inadvertently any provision touching upon subject matters not disclosed in the title.

The title to Chapter 104, Laws of Utah 1961, touches directly upon the subject matter contained in section 11. We quote from that title:

“ . . . ENABLING SCHOOL DISTRICTS TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL SCHOOL SERVICES AND PROGRAMS; . . . ENABLING THE SCHOOL DISTRICTS TO MAKE TAX LEVIES . . .”

Article VI, Section 23, Utah Constitution, does NOT require the act to be restated in the title.

Appellant would have us believe that Chapter 104, Laws of Utah 1961, deals only with what is denominated the “Minimum School Program,” or that the “voted leeway” provision of section 11 does not bear upon the general subject of school district operating revenue. If this is not his position (and his position, incidentally, is not clear), then he would have us believe that the subject of a basic or mini-

mum school financing plan cannot be combined with provisions for permissive additional school operating revenue in the same act. We submit these positions are untenable.

POINT III

THE PROPOSITION SUBMITTED TO THE ELECTORS WAS CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS.

The proposition placed on the ballot and published in the notice of the special election reads:

“Shall the Board of Education of Provo City, State of Utah be authorized to maintain a ‘voted leeway’ program as provided in Section 11, Chapter 104, Laws of Utah 1961, not to exceed ten per cent of the minimum basic program provided by law ”

Appellant attacks this proposition under Point III of his brief for the reason that it does not inform the voter of “the purpose or cost of the proposed program.” (Appellants brief p. 16). Authorities cited are propositions to create debt and are, we therefore submit, not in point. This litigation deals solely with maintenance and operating revenues for schools. No debt is incurred by the action of respondents here under attack.

In adopting Chapter 104, Laws of Utah 1961, the Legislature proceeded under two constitutional provisions, Article X, Section 3, Utah Constitution, and Article XIII, Section 7, Utah Constitution. These provide for the Uniform School Fund and its administration. It behooves us to review briefly these provisions and legislation adopted thereunder.

The 1946 Amendment to Article XIII, Section 7, Utah Constitution, established a policy of the State to underwrite, with limitations, a "minimum school program" throughout all districts of the State, and directed that the Legislature implement this policy by law. The original legislative pronouncement thereunder, Chapter 80, Laws of Utah 1947, established the pattern material here, and though practically each general session of the Legislature since then has amended or substituted Acts on this subject, the policy and mechanics have remained essentially the same.

The Legislature establishes a minimum school program expressed, not in rate of taxation, but in monetary cost according to the school population of the district, expressed in "distribution units," arrived at by a formula calculated to equalize certain administrative and overhead cost differentials between large and small districts. Suffice it here to point out that the determination is the operating cost or amount to be disbursed, NOT the rate of taxation.

The local board of education is then required to fix a stated levy and the additional amount, if any, required to meet the minimum school program fixed by the Legislature is then contributed from the Uniform School Fund. Since 1947, variations have been built upon this procedure, but the theory has remained constant.

By way of illustration only, a chart is included at the end of this brief, demonstrating the manner of operations of Chapter 104, Laws of Utah 1961. The minimum school program is determined by the Legislature to be \$5,400.00 per distribution unit. The local board must fix a levy of 12 mills. The difference, if any, between the sum this will

raise and \$5,400.00 per distribution unit, is contributed to the district from the Uniform School Fund.

The remainder of Chapter 104, Laws of Utah 1961, is permissive. Should the local board wish, it may participate in an additional state supported "leeway" operating program, expressed in monetary cost, not a fixed levy, by fixing an additional four mill ad valorem levy, the State making up the difference. At this level, the State's contribution ceases.

The Act then gives the local board the authority, should it wish to expand the operating school program further, to raise additional funds by means of an additional local ad valorem levy of six mills or a levy which will raise a sum equal to thirteen per cent of the basic program, \$5,400.00 per distribution unit.

The Act then permits the local board to establish an operating school program in addition to sums raised by the means set forth above, up to 20% of the basic program cost, \$5,400.00 per distribution unit, but to do this, the board of education must have the authority conferred by the electors of the district. This provision is contained in Section 11 of the Act, here attacked.

The proposition voted upon is definite and clear—should the board of education have authority to establish a school operating program for the district, costing an additional 10% of the basic program, \$5,400.00 per distribution unit. The mill levy could not be fixed. The election was held February 6, 1962. The assessed valuation of the district is not determined until August. The board's budget is fixed in June. Assessed valuations and school censuses change. The Legislature changes the sum per distribution unit to

be apportioned from the Uniform School Fund. The authority sought by the board from the electors is a continuing one. To attempt to phrase the proposition otherwise than done would not only be ridiculous, it would be impossible.

Neither the act nor the constitutional provisions undertake to fix levies. They merely limit the power to do so. Most of the levies for school operation, at least for the poorer districts, are not even fixed by the local boards of education. Levies, if any, for the Uniform School Fund are determined by the State Tax Commission based upon estimates of that Commission as to other available revenue sources and upon estimates of the State Board of Education as to needs. Levies to carry out the purely local efforts of boards of education above the State supported school program, are fixed by the Board of County Commissioners.

We see nothing wrong with this. Appellant points out nothing. In this State levies are generally fixed administratively, subject to limitations contained in the enabling legislation. The Legislature could as well have given the board of education the power conferred in Section 11, Laws of Utah 1961, without prior authority from the electors. It chose this additional limitation upon the additional expansion of the school program. The proposition submitted, as found by the trial court, adequately informed the electors of the authority sought by the board of education.

CONCLUSION

We are not here concerned with the wisdom or unwisdom of the Legislative arrangement for financing operations of the public schools. That is a political question not

subject to judicial review. **Allen vs. Merrell**, 6 Utah 2d, 32, 305 P.2d 490. Rather, we are concerned with the validity of an act of the Legislature and actions taken by respondents pursuant thereto.

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